IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

LEO BRIAN AVITIA,

Petitioner,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN JOAQUIN,

Respondent.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Real party in interest.

From an Order of the San Joaquin Superior Court, Case No. GJ-2016-411 SUPREME COURT

Hon. Judge Brett H. Morgan (Superior Court Judge-Denied motion to dismiss July 29, 2016) Department 26 - (209) 468-2878

AUG 18 2017

FILED

Hon. Judge Seth Hoyt (Presided over issuance of indictment January 14, 2016) Department 21 - (209) 468-2827

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

And From an Order of the Court of Appeals, Third District, Case No. C082859

INTRODUCTION

It is indisputable, and undisputed, that the People violated a statutory directive over the course of Petitioner's grand jury proceedings. All parties, including the courts below, agree that the prosecutor unlawfully dismissed a juror from Petitioner's grand jury. This dismissal denied Petitioner the procedural right guaranteed to him by statute and altered the composition of the jury in a flawed manner. No matter the prosecutor's intent, his action infringed upon the grand jury's independence, one that is paramount to its successful operation.

What this Court is faced with deciding is whether the violation rises to the level of gravity necessary for dismissal of the indictment. The prosecutor in Petitioner's case illegally dismissed a grand juror from the jury that would go on to indict Petitioner for murder. That error denied Petitioner a substantial right. The law mandates that where, as here, a substantial right is denied, the only available remedy is dismissal. Accordingly, this Court should order Petitioner be provided the relief he seeks, and that the indictment against Petitioner be dismissed. If this Court does not order dismissal, it will make the right to a properly composed grand jury unenforceable.

This Court must so hold, not only to provide Petitioner the relief to which he is entitled, but to prevent this precise error from being perpetrated in future cases (just as it has been committed in multiple cases thus far). If dismissal is not ordered here, there will be no means by which a criminal defendant will be able to seek enforcement of the statute designed to protect him, and prosecutors will be free to continue to violate the law without fear of repercussion. Criminal grand juries have weathered increasing public derision and mistrust. Permitting the prosecutor's conduct in this case would further minimize grand juries as little more than tools of the prosecution and methods by which the prosecutor in any case can avoid the safeguards afforded by a preliminary hearing. A first dismissal in Petitioner's case

is a small price for Real Party to pay for maintaining the grand jury's integrity and independence across the state.

II.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner, Leo Avitia, is a 23-year old resident of San Joaquin County. On July 9, 2014, Petitioner was involved in a serious automobile collision that resulted in the death of Monte A. Bowens, the driver of the other vehicle involved in the crash. In the original six-count complaint filed in this matter, Petitioner was charged with second degree murder (CPC § 187), gross vehicular manslaughter while intoxicated (CPC § 191.5), resisting an executive officer (CPC § 69), driving while privilege revoked or suspended (CPC § 14601.2(a)), and two counts of driving under the influence (CPC § 23153(a) and (b)).

A. Grand Jury Proceedings

On January 11, 2016, Deputy District Attorney Frank Kooger commenced a grand jury proceeding to secure an indictment against Petitioner for his involvement in the accident. On the first day of the proceedings, DDA Kooger questioned the grand jury about any potential difficulties they might have fulfilling their duties as grand jurors. (Exhibit H, 1/11/16 Grand Jury TX, Pgs. 5-6.)² In response to the inquiry, both the grand jury foreperson and another grand juror each indicated that they had a potential issue. The foreperson expressed concerns based on his or her religion, but ultimately remained on the grand jury without incident. However, the prosecutor personally dismissed the other juror, Grand Juror 18, after the juror indicated that he or she had arrested individuals for CPC §148 violations and would consequently not be able to act as an impartial. (1/11/16 TX, Pgs. 8-10.)³ The record indicates

² All exhibits referenced herein have been previously submitted to the Third District and are a part of the record below, and consequently may be requested by this Court as necessary.

³ As the Third District noted below, the latter part of this exchange was inadvertently omitted from the record submitted to the Court of Appeal. However, as the briefing in this case has

that it was DDA Kooger alone who dismissed Juror 18.

On January 14, 2016, the grand jury returned an indictment against Petitioner that mirrored the earlier complaint with one additional charge.

B. Motion to Dismiss and Writ Petition

On May 3, 2016, Petitioner filed a nonstatutory motion to dismiss the indictment. On June 8, 2016, the superior court permitted Petitioner to re-file his motion as a motion to dismiss pursuant to CPC § 995, retaining the earlier effective date of May 3, 2016. (Exhibit F, 6/8/16 Hearing TX.)

On July 25, 2016, the superior court heard argument on the section 995 motion. During this argument, the People conceded their violation of CPC §939.5 and Petitioner brought the court's attention to another recently adjudicated Third District case, *Ramos v. the Superior Court of San Joaquin County*, Case No. C080687, in which the San Joaquin District Attorney's Office had also acknowledged their statutory violation and the Court of Appeal had ordered the office to cease their ongoing practice of dismissing grand jurors of their own accord. Nonetheless, the superior court issued a written order denying Petitioner's motion, which it presented to the parties on August 1, 2016.

On August 31, 2016, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of mandate and/or prohibition. Therein, he complained that, during grand jury proceedings, the prosecutor personally dismissed a grand juror for bias, and in so doing, violated Cal. Pen. Code §939.5, which requires such dismissals be made by the grand jury foreperson. The petition argued that this error violated Petitioner's due process rights and effectuated a denial of a substantial right, requiring dismissal. Following the Third District's order to show cause, Real Party filed a return by demurrer, admitting to all facts alleged in the petition.

confirmed, all parties are in agreement regarding the events that transpired before the grand jury.

C. Third District Denial

On April 18, 2017, the court filed an unpublished opinion denying the petition. (*See* 2017 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 2618.)

In its opinion, the Third District held the following:

- The district attorney is statutorily forbidden from unilaterally excusing grand jurors, as he did in Petitioner's case. (*Id.* at *12.)
- A challenge based on the prosecutor's error in dismissing a grand juror is not properly raised pursuant to CCP §995(a)(1)(A), but may be raised as a due process challenge pursuant to CCP §995 or a nonstatutory motion to dismiss the indictment. (*Id.* at *14-15.) Petitioner's challenge was procedurally proper. (*Ibid.*)
- It is unclear whether a challenge to an information may be premised on a violation of a substantial right, rather than only an error that substantially impairs the independence and impartiality of a grand jury. (*Id.* at *15-20.)
- No matter the standard applied, Petitioner should be denied relief. (*Id.* at *20-26.)
- On the facts of the case, the error committed was not structural. (*Id.* at *26-27.)
- Petitioner's grand jury was properly constituted, and so no jurisdictional defect resulted from the district attorney's error. (*Id.* at *27-29.)

On May 3, 2017, Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing, and on May 11, 2017, the Third District denied the petition for rehearing.⁴ This Court granted review on June 21, 2017.

⁴ On May 8, 2017, Petitioner requested publication of the Third District's opinion. Petitioner did so out of recognition of the importance of the underlying legal issues, not in order to secure broader application of the Third District's analysis, but to provide much needed guidance for future litigants on an issue otherwise lacking precedent in the law. Petitioner also sought to effectuate the Third District's condemnation of the prosecution's unlawful conduct by committing it to published law. Petitioner contended that the Third District should be required to stand by its novel application of previously undeveloped legal analysis, and

STANDARDS GOVERNING PRE-TRIAL MOTIONS TO DISMISS

An appellate court has jurisdiction to hear petitions for writs of mandate or prohibition challenging a superior court's order, as that court is a higher tribunal to the respondent superior court. (See Code Civ. Proc. §§ 1085(a), 1103(a); Cal. Const. art. VI §§ 10-11.) Writ review is appropriate where, as here, the erroneous superior court order would otherwise force the petitioner to proceed to an unnecessary trial. (See H. D. Arnaiz, Ltd. v. County of San Joaquin (2002) 96 Cal. App. 4th 1357, 1367.)

On writ proceedings stemming from the denial of a section 995 motion, the standard the reviewing Court applies is the same as the one applied by the superior court. (*Miller v. Superior Court* (2002) 101 Cal.App.4th 728, 740-741.) That standard is as follows: California Penal Code §995 provides that an indictment shall be dismissed if either the indictment "is not found, endorsed, and presented as prescribed in this code" or "the defendant has been indicted without reasonable or probable cause." (Cal Pen. Code § 995(a)(1); *see also People v. Fujita* (1974) 43 CA3d 454 [indictment is not found as prescribed in the code where it was not concurred in by requisite number of grand jurors].)

Dismissal of the indictment and the granting of a writ petition challenging the trial court's denial of a motion to dismiss are also proper where the grand jury proceedings violate the defendant's due process rights. (*See Cummiskey v. Superior Court* (1992) 3 C4th 1018, 1022 n1; *People v. Backus* (1979) 23 C3d 360, 393; *Bruner v. Superior Court* (1891) 92 Cal. 239; *People v. Rojas* (1969) 2 CA3d 767; *Penney v. Sup. Ct.* (1972) 28 CA3d 941, 944.)

A pre-trial writ petition arising out of irregularities in grand jury proceedings that

that publication is the means by which that can be accomplished. Petitioner further contended that the core issue presented in his petition is of such importance that the Third District should not be permitted to avoid it through the issuance of unpublished conclusions, as this would relegate both lower courts and practitioners to the same unacceptable state: one with no legal direction or guidance. The Third District denied Petitioner's request for publication on May 17, 2017.

result in violations of a defendant's substantial rights requires no showing of prejudice. (See People v. Pompa-Ortiz (1980) 27 Cal.3d 519, 529; People v. Towler (1982) 31 Cal.3d 105, 123; Dustin v. Superior Court (2002) 99 Cal.App.4th 1311, 1328; People v. Stewart (2004) 33 Cal. 4th 425; People v. Booker (2011) 51 Cal.4th 141, 156; Harris v. Superior Court (2014) 225 Cal. App. 4th 1129.) A prejudice analysis is only required when it becomes unclear whether Petitioner was denied a substantial right; in such a situation, the Court should analyze whether the error "might reasonably have affected" the grand jury proceeding's outcome. (Harris v. Superior Court (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 1129, 1146-1147.) Where, and only where, it is clear that the error did not result in the denial of a substantial right, dismissal requires a showing of prejudice. (Ibid.)

IV.

ARGUMENT

The petition before this Court raises four separate issues of law, but one deserves the greatest attention from this Court, for it is the fundamental error that has denied Petitioner the protections the law attempts to afford him. The critical issue before this Court is whether the improper dismissal of grand jurors denies a criminal defendant his substantial right to a lawful grand jury proceeding. The error perpetrated in this case denied Petitioner that right, and that right qualifies as substantial. Because this is so, dismissal is required regardless of the level of prejudice Petitioner suffered or whether his due process rights were also violated by the prosecutor's conduct. The structural nature of the error makes questions of prejudice unnecessary.

The analysis employed by the Third District denying the petition is flawed, as it effectively disregards the substantial rights doctrine and nullifies the grand jury's independence. Rather than give vitality to an important right that was denied to Petitioner, the Third District treats the prosecutor's conduct as minor and Petitioner's right as unenforceable. The law is clear that a petitioner who has been denied a substantial right need

not make any showing of prejudice. Yet the panel instead suggested Petitioner was not denied a substantial right specifically because he could not make a showing of prejudice. This circular logic should be corrected by this Court.

This Court is additionally tasked with determining other issues that the Third District's opinion notes are unsettled in the current law, and Petitioner addresses them below. However it rules on these preliminary questions, the result is the same: dismissal is the only appropriate remedy for the error that has been perpetrated in this case.

A. All Parties Agree That in Dismissing a Grand Juror, the Prosecutor Violated CPC §939.5.

The prosecutor in this case violated CPC §939.5 by dismissing a grand juror on his own accord. Section 939.5 explicitly states:

Before considering a charge against any person, the foreman of the grand jury shall state to those present the matter to be considered and the person to be charged with an offense in connection therewith. He shall direct any member of the grand jury who has a state of mind in reference to the case or to either party which will prevent him from acting impartially and without prejudice to the substantial rights of the party to retire. Any violation of this section by the foreman or any member of the grand jury is punishable by the court as a contempt.

There may be no doubt that it is the grand jury foreperson alone who maintains the authority to dismiss a grand jury pursuant to Section 939.5.

At every step of the proceedings, all parties have agreed that the prosecutor's conduct violated CPC §939.5 and that the error properly serves as the basis for Petitioner's claim. Real Party has acknowledged its error in its arguments below. As the Third District took care to note: "Notwithstanding our conclusion in this case, we are compelled to caution that the district attorney's actions were illegal and under different circumstances could substantially impair the grand jury's understanding of its independence and result in the violation of a substantial right." (2017 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 2618, at *25-26.) Thus, the prosecutor, without any lawful authority, usurped the power to dismiss and assumed the roles of the court and the grand jury foreperson when he dismissed a grand juror in Petitioner's case.

B. Because the Prosecutor's Violation of §939.5, Like the Error Committed in Dustin, Denied Petitioner a Substantial Right, Dismissal of the Indictment Is Required Without Any Showing of Prejudice.

The People's actions over the course of a grand jury proceeding in this case tainted the nature of those proceedings. The prosecutor's conduct served to manipulate the grand jury so as to make them improperly constituted, and suggested to the jury that the prosecutor's function was in some sense authoritative. As a result, Petitioner's substantial rights were violated and the appropriate remedy is a dismissal of the resultant indictment with no showing of prejudice required. The courts below determined that the prosecutor's unlawful conduct did not effectuate a denial of Petitioner's substantial rights. Both courts erred.

1. <u>Pre-Trial Challenges to an Accusatory Pleading Based on the Denial of a Substantial Right at the Probable Cause Hearing Require No Showing of Prejudice.</u>

When a defendant has been denied a substantial right in a probable cause hearing and challenges that error pre-trial, dismissal is required even in the absence of any manifest prejudice. (*People v. Pompa-Ortiz* (1980) 27 Cal. 3d 519, 529.) The core issue in this case rests upon a determination what rights are considered substantial, and in Petitioner's case, only one answer is appropriate.

Notably, the doctrine of substantial rights did not develop in a focused way, and that has resulted in the ambiguity in its application that presently exists. Under any definition of substantial right, it is clear that Petitioner's right here was substantial. The Third District failed to recognize this in part because this Court has not yet provided a clear standard for determining what rights are and are not substantial.

a. History of Substantial Rights Analysis

Historically, whether a violated right was substantial was not an important determination for a reviewing court to make. Challenges to an information or indictment on the basis of an error or statutory violation at the probable cause proceeding were granted

without any showing of prejudice required regardless of the point in the proceedings at which the challenge was made, that is, regardless of whether the challenge was in a pretrial writ petition or a post-conviction appeal. (See, e.g., People v. Napthaly (1895) 105 Cal. 641; People v. Salas (1926) 80 Cal. App. 318; People v. Williams (1954) 124 Cal. App. 2d 32; McCarthy v. Superior Court (1958) 162 Cal. App. 2d 755; People v. Bucher (1959) 175 Cal. App. 2d 343.) Though People v. Elliot (1960) 54 Cal. 2d 498, 503 did not alter this course, it did introduce a new piece of language by describing dismissal as required by section 995 when "the defendant has been denied a substantial right" (emphasis added). For this reason, "substantial right" should not be considered talismanic language, but should be considered in the broader context of the error committed.

After *Elliot*, courts continued to order dismissals in the presence of errors at the probable cause hearing so long as a "substantial right" was violated, though they did not offer a standard definition of what is or is not a "substantial right." (*See*, *e.g.*, *People v. Hellum* (1962) 205 Cal. App. 2d 150 [dismissal required where counsel was absent from proceeding]; *People v. Phillips* (1964) 229 Cal. App. 2d 496 [dismissal required where a continuance that had been requested in order to facilitate securing counsel had been denied]; *Jennings v. Superior Court of Contra Costa County* (1967) 66 Cal. 2d 867 [dismissal required where sections 865 and 866 had been violated by denial of defendant's right to cross-examine witnesses and present affirmative defenses].) What was clear throughout those cases, however, is that courts were willing to order dismissal where a defendant's rights had been abridged, even where the effect of that violation was uncertain.

In *People v. Pompa-Ortiz* (1980) 27 Cal. 3d 519, the California Supreme Court made clear when a denial of a substantial right requires reversal, and when prejudice is necessary:

Henceforth irregularities in the preliminary examination procedures which are not jurisdictional in the fundamental sense shall be reviewed under the appropriate standard of prejudicial error and shall require reversal only if defendant can show that he was deprived of a fair trial or otherwise suffered prejudice as a result of the error at the preliminary examination. The right to relief without any showing of prejudice will be limited to pretrial challenges

of irregularities. . . . If the issue is raised before trial, however, prejudice is presumed and the information is dismissed.

(*Id.* at 529, emphasis added.) Importantly, however, *Pompa-Ortiz* was concerned primarily with *when* the challenge is raised, and not *what* the challenge actually is. In that case, despite the absence of any statutory requirement of a public preliminary hearing, the Court's "historical review [persuaded them] that the Legislature at all times perceived there was a right to public preliminary examinations and drafted the statutes in light of that understanding." (*Id.* at 526.) Consequently, the defendant, whose preliminary hearing had been closed to the public, had a "substantial right" to a public preliminary hearing that had been violated. (*Ibid.*) The denial of his challenge was based solely on the fact that he was required to show prejudice on an appeal following his conviction.

In *People v. Konow* (2004) 32 Cal. 4th 995, the Court offered clarity on the question of when a violation denies a defendant a substantial right. The Court relied on *Jennings v. Superior Court of Contra Costa County* (1967) 66 Cal. 2d 867, a case that held that, in the context of the denial of cross-examination at a preliminary hearing, whether the denial is a violation of a substantial right turns on the importance of the subject of the desired cross-examination. Extending that logic, the *Konow* Court held that *one* means by which a defendant is denied a substantial right is to subject him "to prejudicial error, that is, error that reasonably might have affected the outcome." (*Konow, supra*, 32 Cal. 4th at 1024.)

b. Current Law on Substantial Rights

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