(In the Supreme Court of the State of California

LEO AVITIA,

Petitioner,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY,

Respondent,

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Real Party in Interest.

Case No. S242030

SUPREME COURT FILED

NOV 17 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Third Appellate District, Case No. C082859
San Joaquin County Superior Court, Case No. CJ20164112415
The Honorable Brett H. Morgan, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

In conclusion, if Avitia's complaint is that his state due process rights were violated, it is unfounded. The violation of one aspect of section 939.5 neither impaired the grand jury's independence and impartiality nor contribute to its decision to indict. (See *Backus*, *supra*, 23 Cal.3d at pp. 392-393.)

B. Avitia Is Not Entitled to a Presumption of Prejudice Or Automatic Dismissal

This Court should hold that a defendant seeking relief from grand jury proceedings must show prejudice at any stage of a criminal proceeding. Relying heavily on dicta in *People v. Pompa-Ortiz* (1980) 27 Cal.3d 519 (*Pompa-Ortiz*), Avitia argues that he need not show prejudice because his claim is being raised and decided before trial. (OB 16, 19.) Avitia maintains that because he was "denied a substantial right," prejudice is presumed (OB 14, 19, 25-26, 28-29), and "[a] prejudice analysis is only required when it becomes unclear whether Petitioner was denied a substantial right. . ." (OB 14). Avitia has it backwards. "[G]enerally a denial of substantial rights occurs *only* if the error 'reasonably might have affected the outcome." (*Standish*, *supra*, 38 Cal.4th at p. 882, quoting *People v. Konow* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 995, 1024-1025 (*Konow*), italics added.)

1. In California, a judgment generally will not be set aside without a showing of prejudice

The California constitution requires harmless error review under a miscarriage of justice standard. It says: "No judgment shall be set aside, or new trial granted, in any cause, on the ground of misdirection of the jury ... or for any error as to any matter of procedure, unless, after an examination of the entire cause, including the evidence, the court shall be of the opinion that the error complained of has resulted in a miscarriage of justice." (Cal. Const., art. VI, § 13.) This Court explained the state

constitutional requirement in *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836: a defendant must persuade the court that "it is reasonably probable that a result more favorable to the appealing party would have been reached in the absence of the error."

This principle appears throughout the Penal Code, too. Section 1258 explains that, on appeal, "the Court must give judgment without regard to technical errors or defects, or to exceptions, which do not affect the substantial rights of the parties." Section 1404 provides: "Neither a departure from the form or mode prescribed by this Code in respect to any pleading or proceeding, nor an error or mistake therein, renders it invalid, unless it has actually prejudiced the defendant, or tended to his prejudice, in respect to a substantial right." Regarding pleadings in particular, section 960 provides: "No accusatory pleading is insufficient, nor can the trial, judgment, or other proceeding thereon be affected by reason of any defect or imperfection in matter of form which does not prejudice a substantial right of the defendant upon the merits."

These statutes are the source of the phrase "substantial right" that appears in the cases discussing preliminary hearings and other probable cause hearings. As can be seen, the phrase "substantial right" goes hand-in-hand with prejudice. Avitia misuses the term "substantial rights analysis" to mean applying a presumption of prejudice. (See OB 14, 19, 25-26, 28-29.)

"[I]rregularities in grand jury proceedings are generally subject to analysis for prejudice." (*People v. Jablonski*, *supra*, 37 Cal.4th at p. 800 [unauthorized presence of prosecutors not presenting the case at grand jury proceeding]; accord, *People v. Booker* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 141, 156 [court's failure to swear in grand jurors until after they had heard some evidence]; *People v. Towler*, *supra*, 31 Cal.3d at p. 123 [unspecified errors at grand jury proceeding].) The same is true for irregularities in preliminary

hearings. (*People v. Stewart* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 425, 461-462 [allegation that prosecutor's failure to immediately disclose evidence necessitated a continuance and forced accused to waive his right to a continuous preliminary hearing]; *Pompa-Ortiz*, 27 Cal.3d at p. 529 [preliminary hearing was closed instead of public].)

2. Avitia was not denied a substantial right because the error did not result in prejudice

Avitia argues that, according to dicta in *Pompa-Ortiz*, he is entitled to a presumption of prejudice because his case is being decided before trial. (OB 16.) But this Court has clarified that dicta adversely to Avitia's position. While this Court has not yet squarely held that prejudice must be shown to obtain dismissal of an indictment *before* trial, all indications point that way. Avitia's position is untenable and would simply result in a windfall.

The *Pompa-Ortiz* dictum has muddied the waters slightly. In *Pompa-Ortiz*, a direct appeal, this Court overruled an earlier case to hold that "[h]enceforth irregularities in the preliminary examination procedures which are not jurisdictional in the fundamental sense shall be reviewed under the appropriate standard of prejudicial error and shall require reversal only if defendant can show that he was deprived of a fair trial or otherwise suffered prejudice as a result of the error at the preliminary examination." (*Pompa-Ortiz*, *supra*, 27 Cal.3d at p. 529.) But this Court then commented that "[t]he right to relief without any showing of prejudice will be limited to pretrial challenges of irregularities." (*Ibid.*) This dictum might lead litigants to think, if they can show an error or irregularity in grand jury or preliminary hearing procedures before trial, they need not show prejudice to have the indictment or information set aside. This dictum is not the law.

This Court's more recent decisions in *Konow*, *Standish*, and *Reilly*—all cases decided before trial, like this one—show exactly why the *Pompa*-

Ortiz dictum does not establish that a violation of a substantial right can be shown without resulting prejudice. In Konow, the superior court set aside an information because the magistrate presiding over the preliminary hearing would have dismissed the complaint in furtherance of justice under section 1385, had he not erroneously believed he had no authority to do so. (Konow, supra, 32 Cal.4th at pp. 1009, 1011.) The People appealed the ruling (id. at p. 1012; see § 1238, subd. (a)(1)), and so the issue came to this Court before trial. This Court held that "a defendant is denied a substantial right affecting the legality of the commitment [12] when he or she is subjected to prejudicial error, that is, error that reasonably might have affected the outcome [citation]." (Id. at p. 1024; accord Reilly, supra, 57 Cal.4th at p. 653; Standish, supra, 38 Cal.4th at p. 882, italics added by the People.) This Court reasoned that its conclusion was consistent with "judicial practice in other areas of the law where, as in the context of plain error rules, a defendant is deemed to be denied a substantial right by exposure to prejudicial error." (Konow, at p. 1025, citing Chapman v. California (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 21–22; People v. Arredondo (1975) 52 Cal.App.3d 973, 978.) This Court went on to find prejudice, as the record was clear the magistrate would have dismissed the complaint pursuant to section 1385 if he had known he retained the authority to do so. (Id. at p. 1026.)

In Standish, supra, 38 Cal.4th 858, this Court followed Konow and also clarified the Pompa-Ortiz dictum. The Court considered whether the superior court must set aside an information (§ 995, subd. (a)(2)) where the magistrate refused to grant the defendant release on his own recognizance

¹² One of the statutory grounds for dismissal of an information (but not an indictment) is "[t]hat before the filing thereof the defendant had not been legally committed by a magistrate." (§ 995, subd. (a)(2)(A).)

pending the preliminary examination, in violation of section 859b. (Standish, at pp. 882-888.) Standish was also a People's appeal from the superior court's order dismissing an information pursuant to section 995, and was decided before trial. This Court said that Pompa-Ortiz did not entitle the defendant to dismissal without any showing of prejudice. (Id. at p. 885.) This Court explained that: "Pompa-Ortiz must not be read overbroadly" because it "did not establish that any and all irregularities that precede or bear some relationship to the preliminary examination require that the information be set aside pursuant to section 995; later decisions such as People v. Konow, supra, 32 Cal.4th 995, have made this clear." (Standish, at p. 885; accord, Reilly, 57 Cal.4th at pp. 653-654.) As in other areas of criminal law, reversal without any showing of prejudice is limited to a small category of "inherently prejudicial" errors (Standish, at p. 883) — in other words, structural errors (discussed post).

Although *Standish* and *Konow* involve informations, their reasoning applies equally where a defendant seeks to set aside an indictment before trial. Indeed, this Court relied on *Standish* and *Konow* in considering an error in the pretrial assessment protocol in a Sexually Violent Predators Act case. (*Reilly v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 57 Cal.4th at pp. 653-654.) This Court expressly disagreed that *Pompa-Ortiz* had created a rule that prejudice is presumed for errors in probable cause hearings that are raised and decided pretrial. (*Id.* at p. 653.) Rather, *Pompa-Ortiz*'s general rule "is that nonjurisdictional irregularities in preliminary hearing procedures should be reviewed for prejudice." (*Ibid.*, citing *Pompa-Ortiz*, *supra*, 27 Cal.3d at p. 529.) While *Pompa-Ortiz* applied the rule to a postconviction challenge, "it applies with equal force to a pretrial challenge that addresses an issue that a subsequent fact finder will reconsider." (*Reilly*, at p. 653.)

In federal court, too, a defendant's substantial rights are not affected in the absence of prejudice. (See 28 U.S.C. § 2111; Fed. Rules Crim. Proc.,

rule 52(a), 18 U.S.C.) Accordingly, the United States Supreme Court has held that "as a general matter, a district court may not dismiss an indictment for errors in grand jury proceedings unless such errors prejudiced the defendants." (*Bank of Nova Scotia*, *supra*, 487 U.S. at p. 254.) And this is because rule 52(a) of Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, similarly to California's sections 960, 1258, and 1404, provides that "[a]ny error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." (*Id.* at pp. 254-255.)

In *Stark*, this Court examined, for harmlessness, an alleged instructional error arising before trial in a grand jury proceeding, though without expressly discussing whether or not harmless error review was appropriate. (*Stark*, *supra*, 52 Cal.4th at pp. 407-409.) This Court should now hold what is implicit in *Stark*, *Standish*, *Konow*, and *Reilly*: a defendant seeking relief based on an error in grand jury proceedings must show prejudice at any stage of the criminal proceedings. As in other areas of criminal law, the only exception should be the "rare" structural error requiring automatic reversal regardless of prejudice. (See *Sullivan v*. *Louisiana* (1993) 508 U.S. 275, 282; *People v. Sivongxxay* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 151, 180.).

Avitia cannot show prejudice here. He does not argue that Grand Juror No. 18 was unbiased. And, as discussed, he has not shown that the error "may have compromised the independence of the grand jury and contributed to the decision to indict." (*Backus*, *supra*, 23 Cal.3d at p. 393.)

3. The error in this case was not structural error

In addition to interpreting a "substantial right" as incorporating a presumption of prejudice, Avitia attempts to characterize the error in his case as structural error. (OB 8-9, 14-16, 20, 22, 25, 28-30.) This argument misses the mark.

A structural error is an error that "affect[s] the framework within which the trial proceeds,' rather than being 'simply an error in the trial process itself." (Weaver v. Massachusetts (2017) __ U.S. __ [137 S.Ct. 1899, 1907] (Weaver), quoting Arizona v. Fulminante (1991) 499 U.S. 279, 310.) A structural error simply "def[ies] analysis by harmless error standards.' [Citation.]" (Weaver, at pp. 1907-1908.) A structural error results in "reversal without any inquiry into prejudice." (Id. at p. 1905.) Avitia asserts that a violation of section 995 is structural error (OB 14, 28, 29), even suggesting that a violation of a substantial right is necessarily structural error (OB 14).

Few errors in grand jury proceedings or preliminary hearings are structural, and they should not be treated as such just because they are decided pretrial. As this Court has said, "[c]ategorization of an error as structural represents 'the exception and not the rule.' [Citation.]" (*People v. Sivongxxay*, *supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 178.) "The fact that an error implicates important constitutional rights does not necessarily make it structural." (*Ibid.*) "'Many statutes . . . set out procedures designed to protect constitutional principles. Broadly construed, many of these procedural statutes may be said to protect due process and other constitutional safeguards. Nevertheless, most procedural shortcomings constitute trial error' and not structural error." (*Id.* at pp. 178-179, citation omitted.) There is "a difference between a failure to comply with a statutory requirement that may serve to protect a constitutional right, and a violation of the underlying constitutional right itself." (*Id.* at p. 184.)

The error in this case involved a rule of procedure that does not create a right but rather serves to protect the right to an impartial grand jury. "The error does not implicate a core right at the [grand jury proceeding] itself." (Standish, supra, 38 Cal.4th at p. 883.) Nor is the error "inherently prejudicial." (Ibid.) A violation of section 939.5 is not the type of error for

which the effects "are simply too hard to measure." (Weaver, supra, 137 S.Ct. at p. 1908.) This case is a perfect example. The record shows that the retirement of Grand Juror No. 18 preserved the impartiality of the grand jury, regardless of who excused her. The record also shows that what the other grand jurors observed of the event could not have undermined their sense of independence. For the same reason, noncompliance with section 939.5 will not "always result in fundamental unfairness," unlike the total deprivation of counsel. (See Weaver, at p. 1908.)

The dictum in *Pompa-Ortiz* is inconsistent not only with this Court's decisions in *Standish*, *Konow*, and *Reilly*, and the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Bank of Nova Scotia*, but to the extent it is understood to treat all errors in preliminary hearings and grand jury proceedings as structural errors, it is also inconsistent with the principles discussed above.

4. The Pompa-Ortiz dictum remains a problem

The holding the People request would bring welcome clarity to the law, because the *Pompa-Ortiz* dictum endures, though mostly as dicta, in other cases. For example, in *People v. Booker*, this Court commented, "*Pompa-Ortiz* did not require a showing of prejudice during a pretrial challenge to irregularities in the preliminary examination. . . . [T]he need for a showing of prejudice depends on the stage of the proceedings at which a defendant raises the claim in a reviewing court" (*People v. Booker*, *supra*, 51 Cal.4th at pp. 156-157.) The foregoing was dictum in *Booker* because this Court actually held: "because this is a posttrial challenge to grand jury proceedings, any irregularity in the proceedings requires reversal only if the defendant has been prejudiced." (*Id.* at pp. 157-158.) As another example, in *People v. Stewart*, this Court referenced *Pompa-Ortiz*: "when a defendant presents, by way of a pretrial writ petition, claims that establish irregularities in preliminary hearing procedures, the court will grant relief . . . 'without any showing of prejudice.' (*Id.*, at p. 529.)"

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